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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Good morning. I

          3  apologize for the delay. It sometimes difficult when

          4  we're over here. But having said that I would like

          5  to get started. I know the Commissioner has a lot of

          6  other things that she needs to take care of, so I

          7  would appreciate your patience on this. And as was

          8  noted by the Sergeant-At-Arms -- let me make sure my

          9  cell phone -- oh, it's not even on yet, fine.

         10                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: You turned it

         11  off when you were at the theater on Saturday night.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And forgot to turn

         13  it back on. That's right, exactly.

         14                 Good morning. And welcome to this

         15  hearing of Consumer Affairs. I'm Philip Reed, Chair

         16  of the Committee, and I'm happy to have all of us

         17  here together.

         18                 The members of the Committee who are

         19  here at the moment are Council Member Oliver

         20  Koppell, from the Bronx, Vincent Gentile from

         21  Brooklyn. I'm advised that we will have other

         22  members here, and we will have a quorum and then we

         23  will be voting on two bills related to the towing

         24  industry, Intro. 143-A, and Intro. 138.

         25                 Second, we are going to hear a report
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          2  from the Department of Consumer Affairs from Home

          3  Improvement contractors, on the home improvement

          4  contractors they license, and take testimony on

          5  Intro. 307, a bill that would regulate some

          6  activities of home improvement contractors.

          7                 The proposed Intro. 143-A would

          8  adjust the rates received by arterial operators. As

          9  many of you know, the arterial tow program has not

         10  received a rate increase in many years, even though

         11  towers in the DARP and ROTOW program have had their

         12  rates raised in 2001.

         13                 Proposed Intro. 143-A would bring the

         14  arterial towers to parity, creating rates of $70 for

         15  the first mile and $4 for each additional mile for

         16  towing of disabled passenger cars. No other tow

         17  rates would be affected.

         18                 After having received extensive

         19  testimony on this matter, we believe such a limited

         20  increase is warranted at this time.

         21                 Intro. 138, a bill that is advanced

         22  by the Mayor, would change the licensing dates for

         23  those in the tow industry.

         24                 Currently, all tow and licenses and

         25  license plates expire on December 31st in odd
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          2  numbered years.

          3                 Intro. 138 would change the

          4  expiration date for tow trucks, company licenses and

          5  tow truck license plates to April 30 in even

          6  numbered years, and would make October 31st in even

          7  numbered years the expiration date for licenses

          8  issued to tow truck drivers.

          9                 Now, I want everybody to say that all

         10  back to me fast.

         11                 As we understand it, the

         12  Administration feels this would reduce the end of

         13  the year workload for their inspectors and free them

         14  from inspecting trucks in the middle of the winter,

         15  which would, presumably, increase their efficiency.

         16  I don't know if it's the inspectors or the truck

         17  deficiency, but it would improve something.

         18                 We have discussed these bills last

         19  session, and in a February hearing this year. As

         20  Chair, I'd like to thank everyone who has been

         21  involved with the evolution of these bills.

         22                 Home Improvement Contractors. Let me

         23  just, before I go into the Home Improvement

         24  question, Commissioner, let me ask you a question. I

         25  appreciate the cooperation on the two towing bills.
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          2  There is a question that has been raised about

          3  prorating of fees. I don't know if it's relevant,

          4  but if we change the structure, the people that have

          5  already paid, or there is a gap --

          6                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: We'll adjust

          7  for that. We're not going to take money that we

          8  don't deserve. So, if we change the schedules, which

          9  we hope we do, we will accommodate it accordingly.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I will give some

         11  notice to people early enough, because we're saying

         12  that's a lot more money --

         13                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Right.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: -- Than they had

         15  planned to do, so we'll give them some idea early

         16  on.

         17                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Yes, we will.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         19                 There are approximately 6,500

         20  licensed home improvement contractors in New York

         21  City.

         22                 These contractors go through

         23  stringent licensing requirements and are forced to

         24  pay into the home improvement contractors trust fund

         25  to ensure that consumers are not left without
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          2  recourse.

          3                 Nonetheless, there are still home

          4  improvement contractors who behave inappropriately.

          5                 DCA states that it receives more

          6  complaints about home improvement contractors than

          7  about any other industry.

          8                 In 2003 the Commissioner reported

          9  nearly 700 consumer complaints in this area. This

         10  morning we are going to hear more from the

         11  Commissioner and her staff about their efforts to

         12  prevent such illegal activities.

         13                 We're also going to discuss Intro.

         14  307. As many of you know, some of the more unseemly

         15  members of the Home Improvement contracting industry

         16  are involved with predatory home loans. Some bad

         17  actors compel unsuspecting home-owners to enter into

         18  deceptive high cost home loans for work that may

         19  never have been completed.

         20                 Home owners are left with bills they

         21  cannot pay, and unnecessary repairs that are never

         22  finished. Intro. 307 would address this problem by

         23  compelling compliance with aspect of the State's

         24  Consumer Protection Laws in this area.

         25                 Specifically, it would require
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          2  disclosure as outlined by the State General Business

          3  Law in cases when a home improvement contractor

          4  brokers a home loan.

          5                 It would also mimic the state banking

          6  law by prohibiting home improvement contractors from

          7  receiving payments from a high-cost loan, unless the

          8  payment is made jointly to the home-owner and the

          9  contractor, or made to the contractor through an

         10  escrow account.

         11                 Commissioner, we would like to hear

         12  your testimony.

         13                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Good morning. I

         14  apologize for sitting this way. I don't want to get

         15  a kink in my neck.

         16                 Good morning. I'm Gretchen Dykstra,

         17  Commissioner of the New York City Department of

         18  Consumer Affairs.

         19                 Chairman Reed, and members of the

         20  Committee, I am pleased to appear before you on your

         21  oversight hearing on one of the Department's key

         22  priorities, the Home Improvement Contractor

         23  licensing program, and on Intro. No. 307, relating

         24  to the financing of home improvement contractors.

         25                 Your timing could not be better. It's

                                                            9

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  finally spring, the season when consumers turn their

          3  full attention to fix up projects on their homes.

          4                 DCA licenses home improvement

          5  contractors. We enforce against unlicensed

          6  contractors. We mediate complaints from consumers

          7  against home improvement contractors and we provide

          8  restitution to consumers when warranted.

          9                 The licensing and regulation of home

         10  improvement contractors was one of the first

         11  responsibilities the Council assigned to the

         12  Department of Consumer Affairs. It was then and

         13  still remains one of the most innovative licensing

         14  laws in the country.

         15                 The law allows us to impose fines, as

         16  well as obtain monetary restitution. Why? Complaints

         17  have always been one of the highest problem areas.

         18  This year alone we have received 714 complaints, and

         19  if you assume, as I do, that the complaints

         20  represent only a fraction of the real problems, it

         21  is staggering.

         22                 DCA has used the law to help

         23  thousands of New Yorkers who have been ripped off by

         24  contractors. Consider these recent cases.

         25                 Linda, from Queens, paid $26,000 for
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          2  a full kitchen and bathroom renovation. When the

          3  contractor did not complete the work as promised,

          4  she paid an additional $12,000 to have it finished.

          5  Then he disappeared.

          6                 The contractor failed to properly

          7  sheetrock the walls, or properly install cabinets,

          8  blinds and doors.

          9                 Veronica, from Staten Island, hired a

         10  contractor and negotiated a price of $10,000 to

         11  replace the roof of the home of her

         12  recently-purchased house. She paid the contractor up

         13  front.

         14                 Shortly after the work began, the

         15  contractor doubled the price saying there was damage

         16  to the roof from an earlier fire. She paid another

         17  $5,500. For weeks the contractors delayed, did a

         18  little bit of work here and there, but essentially

         19  turned her home into a mess while complaining the

         20  job was difficult. In the meantime, the family lived

         21  at the new house with a tarp for shelter.

         22                 The contractor skipped town, and

         23  Veronica contacted the DCA. After going through the

         24  appropriate process, reimbursed her $15,000 from the

         25  trust fund, she is now in the process of getting the
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          2  job done right.

          3                 These examples are typical. In the

          4  past two years, we have reinvigorated the licensing

          5  and enforcement efforts in this field.

          6                 To maximize the effectiveness

          7  efficiency, and impact of our enforcement efforts,

          8  DCA instituted a multi-pronged strategy, that

          9  closely linked its licensing enforcement,

         10  educational and outreach efforts.

         11                 We are proud of our success, and let

         12  me offer some highlights.

         13                 We can best help consumers when

         14  consumers use a licensed contractor. The key to our

         15  strategy was increasing the number of licensed

         16  contractors. We have done so. In March of 2003 there

         17  were approximately 6,500 contractors, and today

         18  there are 6,900.

         19                 The number of HIC sales people has

         20  risen by 500. That number now covers around 7,500

         21  HIC sales people. To do this work, we work in

         22  partnership with local associations, such as the

         23  Staten Island Contractors Association, the Brooklyn

         24  Landscape Society, and the Korean American

         25  Contractors Association.
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          2                 We have conducted three in the field

          3  training and licensing sessions, we took our

          4  licensing operations to Flushing and registered many

          5  contractors in one day. We have held sessions at the

          6  Prospect Heights High School in Brooklyn and at a

          7  Home Depot in Ozone Park in Queens.

          8                 This year we are identifying new

          9  associations to work with, and we are offering an

         10  evening licensing session.

         11                 We cross-check the yellow pages with

         12  licensing lists who identify potentially unlicensed

         13  contractors and mail reminders to some 4,500

         14  apparently unlicensed persons, urging them to obtain

         15  a license.

         16                 You have in front of you copies of

         17  our consumer guide. We have distributed at building

         18  trade shows, contractors' meetings, Home Depot,

         19  Loews, and many other venues. Copies are available

         20  on our website, and we would gladly send you copies

         21  for special events you might have.

         22                 Every licensed contractor is listed

         23  on our website, making it easy for consumers to

         24  check the status of a perspective renovator, and in

         25  the next set of Verizon's phone books, there will be
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          2  notices telling consumers to check with DCA to

          3  ensure that they use a licensed contractor.

          4                 We have worked with the Rent

          5  Stabilization Association and Real Estate Board to

          6  notify building owners of the licensing requirement.

          7  We have published articles in the Cooperator and the

          8  Real Estate Weekly to inform co-op residents of

          9  their requirements. Local papers have extensively

         10  covered stories about bad contractors and trust fund

         11  payouts.

         12                 Consumer complaints against HICs have

         13  increased from 461 in Fiscal Year '03 to 714. Valid

         14  complaints against contractors thus far in Fiscal

         15  Year '04. We can only believe that our multi-pronged

         16  strategy has helped steer consumers our way.

         17                 And we help them by mediating

         18  complaints. We added a lawyer to the mediation team

         19  to focus on HIC. We bring legal cases against the

         20  contractors and by paying restitution.

         21                 As you know, in lieu of a bond

         22  contractors can pay $200 into the home improvement

         23  trust fund when they receive or renew their

         24  licenses.

         25                 This fund is used to pay restitution
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          2  to consumers who are ripped off by licensed

          3  contractors, that subsequently went out of business

          4  or disappeared.

          5                 In 2002, DCA raised the trust fund

          6  pay out from $10,000 to $15,000, and regularized the

          7  payments to the consumers who have been ripped off.

          8                 In 2003, we paid out $710,000 from

          9  the trust fund, and in the first four months of this

         10  year, we've distributed $550,000 from the fund to

         11  consumers. Prior to paying out, we make every effort

         12  to track down the wiley contractors to get the

         13  restitution and the fine. If we cannot find them, we

         14  pay from the trust fund.

         15                 This year we are also launching a new

         16  program invading the trust fund to pay fines.

         17                 We are anticipating 41,000 in fines

         18  during the first four months of the year.

         19                 Another key to our strategy is to use

         20  trust fund publicity to remind consumers to only use

         21  licensed contractors, and this year a Manhattan case

         22  was settled that said if an unlicensed contractor is

         23  stiffed by a consumer, the courts cannot help the

         24  contractor. We communicate that message too.

         25                 I also have put at your desk a bumper
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          2  sticker that we sent to all licensees that they can

          3  put on their trucks.

          4                 It helps them to promote their

          5  business, it helps us to get out the message.

          6                 We seize the trucks and tools of

          7  unlicensed contractors. In 2003, DCA seized 50

          8  vehicles. So far this year we have seized 23

          9  vehicles, which means we are well on our way to

         10  surpassing previous years and seizing a record

         11  number of vehicles.

         12                 These contractors were required to

         13  pay $1,000 in fine, resolve any outstanding

         14  complaint, pay into the DCA home improvement trust

         15  fund, and get licensed before retrieving their

         16  vehicle.

         17                 We regularly publicize these seizures

         18  in local papers to better educate consumers and warn

         19  unlicensed contractors that we are vigorously

         20  enforcing the law.

         21                 This increase in seizure results from

         22  both our cross-training decentralized enforcement,

         23  and a more targeted method for locating unlicensed

         24  contractors, and I'm joined by Pansy Mullings,

         25  Director of Enforcement, if you have any questions
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          2  to follow up on that.

          3                 Fines have also increased. In Fiscal

          4  Year 2000, DCA assessed 430 -- $430,000 in fines and

          5  $1.1. Million in restitution just from HIC. We could

          6  pay off the federal debt with that. That's quite a

          7  typo.

          8                 So far this fiscal year the

          9  Department has assessed $3.8 million in fines, and

         10  1.4 in consumer restitution. And one year ago we

         11  achieved settlement of $600,000 in consumer

         12  restitution and fines in the agency's lawsuit

         13  against Better Homes Depot, a New York-based real

         14  estate company.

         15                 The company had misled many

         16  first-time home buyers engaged in deceptive trade

         17  practices. Better Homes Depot paid over $525,000 in

         18  consumer restitution to 36 New York City customers

         19  in amounts ranging from five to forty-thousand

         20  dollars, and paid the City $100,000 in fines.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: In that sentence

         22  where we were trying to correct the number, the

         23  fines also increased, it says in fiscal year, it

         24  says 30,000 in fines --

         25                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: That's in the

                                                            17

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  Year 2000, before this Administration took over.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And then 1.1

          4  million in restitution.

          5                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Just from --

          9                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Year 2000.

         10                 What we discovered when this

         11  Administration took over is that our Legal

         12  Department always went for restitution, which we

         13  also applaud, but we also thought they should also

         14  go for higher fines. So, now what we're doing is

         15  getting both, and so you'll see the fines have gone

         16  up to 3.8 million and restitution up to 1.4.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay. I'm sorry.

         18  Thank you.

         19                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Now let me turn

         20  to Intro. 307.

         21                 In June 2002, a resident of Jamaica

         22  wrote to DCA asking for help. Someone rang her bell

         23  and asked if she needed home improvement services.

         24                 "I told him the basement" -- this is

         25  quote. "I told him the basement and I proceeded to
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          2  say that I was not really interested at the moment

          3  because it was hard for me to get home improvement

          4  loans. So I had given up on doing any kind of work

          5  on my house.

          6                 He said to me,'Mrs., don't worry. I

          7  can get you a loan. I have gotten loans for people

          8  who were worse than you.'".

          9                 Within two weeks the contractor

         10  proceeded to get a loan of more than $32,000 to

         11  cover what was supposed to be a $20,000 renovation

         12  and some bundled bills. The work was not adequately

         13  performed, the contractor disappeared and the

         14  resident was left with a high-cost loan to pay off.

         15                 That consumer and others like her

         16  need help. Luckily, we were able to reimburse her

         17  $15,000 from the trust fund, but this never should

         18  have happened in the first place.

         19                 We believe that the bill's intent is

         20  laudable, and tackles one aspect of predatory loans

         21  in a useful way, but we urge revisions to make it

         22  stronger.

         23                 First, we suggest that the Council

         24  retain the current language that a lone contract

         25  contain the FTC's clause when home improvement work
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          2  is paid for with the proceeds of loan.

          3                 Since the law now requires that the

          4  specified clause be in the contract, a facial

          5  examination of the contract tells the story of

          6  whether or not a contractor has complied.

          7                 As revised by this proposal, the

          8  Department would instead have the more difficult

          9  task of establishing that a contractor failed to act

         10  in compliance with the federal regulation.

         11                 We would then suggest the compliance

         12  with Section 771-A of the General Business Law be

         13  included as a separate clause.

         14                 Second, and most importantly, the

         15  Department urges the Council to take a tougher line

         16  against home improvement contracts that carry loan

         17  papers by prohibiting them from carrying the papers

         18  at all.

         19                 Specifically we suggest that the

         20  Council review the Massachusetts law, which is

         21  attached to my testimony.

         22                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         23  offer comments. If you have any questions, I'd be

         24  happy to answer them.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Again,
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          2  Commissioner, thank you for your patience, and your

          3  testimony here today.

          4                 Let me understand on this now, the

          5  home improvement contractors, we license the sales

          6  people as well?

          7                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: That's correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And that's a

          9  different license?

         10                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Yes, it is. But

         11  they both have to take the same test, which tests

         12  their understanding of the contracts that one signs

         13  with a consumer, but they both take tests, and many

         14  of the sales people also have an HIC contractor's

         15  license.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And do we see

         17  instances where people do a minimal amount of work,

         18  and what I'm looking at is where is the line drawn

         19  when it's called the home improvement contractor?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Two-hundred

         21  dollars. If you're having work done that's in value

         22  of more than $200, it is considered a home

         23  improvement contractor, so that, you know, the

         24  handyman who comes in and puts a shelf up does not

         25  necessarily have to have a license. There are a
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          2  whole list of actual skills that are covered, and

          3  the one thing that is not covered by a home

          4  improvement contractor, which we have been talking

          5  to buildings about is electrical and plumbing work.

          6                 That needs a technical license from

          7  the Department of Buildings.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Can you describe

          9  your enforcement efforts? Say you've confiscated a

         10  truck, how is it that you go about enforcing --

         11                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: This is Pansy

         12  Mullings, Director of Enforcement.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:-- Identifying those

         14  who don't have licenses?

         15                 MS. MULLINGS: Thank you. My name is

         16  Pansy Mullings, I'm Director of Enforcement.

         17                 We do it several ways. When someone

         18  complains about a contractor, sometimes they can

         19  tell us where the contractor is working. A lot of

         20  times they're working in a neighboring house so we

         21  go there. A lot of times we will go through, for

         22  example, Home Depot, and take cards from various

         23  contractors who go there, check to see if they're

         24  licensed, and then follow them to a location. And

         25  the other area is in the spring, a lot of times
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          2  contractors start working, and sometimes we will

          3  drive in an area and just check the contractors who

          4  are working in areas.

          5                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: I'd like to add

          6  something, too. We also get leads from -- and here I

          7  would cite the Staten Island Home Improvement

          8  Contractors' Association, which is a very active

          9  group. They will give us leads and actually help us

         10  identify those guys that are unlicensed.

         11                 I would also like to say that

         12  enforcement doesn't work in isolation, and they work

         13  in close cooperation with our Licensing Division, so

         14  as we're licensing new ones, we also know who in

         15  fact -- we try to know who is not licensed, who

         16  doesn't renew, those lists go to enforcement, so

         17  that we try to coordinate those two ends of our

         18  work.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So what you're

         20  saying is, when you saying you're driving around,

         21  you look for trucks that are outside that have some

         22  name on it and whether or not licenses, then you

         23  track to see if that company, the name may be on the

         24  truck, is the licensed contractor?

         25                 MS. MULLINGS: Yes. All of our
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          2  inspectors have Nexel radio, so they can call into

          3  our base and run it, have someone run it in the

          4  computer, so we know right away.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Do you give these

          6  people the opportunity to get a license or do they

          7  just get a fine automatically.

          8                 MS. MULLINGS: We actually seize the

          9  vehicle, which brings them in right away.

         10                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: We seize the

         11  vehicle, and to get the vehicle back you have to pay

         12  $1,000, you have to get licensed, you have to pay

         13  your fines and you have to pay into the trust fund.

         14  So, it is a quadruple whammy, when you get your HIC

         15  truck seized, you also lose your tools.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Is there a

         17  requirement, as it is in the tow business, for

         18  instance, that your license number be on the side of

         19  your truck?

         20                 MS. MULLINGS: No.

         21                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: No.

         22                 MS. MULLINGS: No.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Is that something

         24  we might want to take a look at?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Yes. Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I would think that

          3  the general public doesn't necessarily know that

          4  home improvement contracting is a licensed business.

          5  So, if we were saying to people, if you're going to

          6  advertise, you need to advertise your license

          7  number, you would then presume that anybody who is

          8  driving around, I don't think they're going to put

          9  an unlicensed thing in the phone book, but if

         10  they're advertising themselves in some way on their

         11  vehicle, it would be even easier for you to identify

         12  who it is. If it was a requirement to have the

         13  license contractor have their number on the vehicle.

         14                 MS. MULLINGS: It has to be on any of

         15  their business cards and their contracts.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: And in fact,

         17  the only thing I would add to that, Phil, is that

         18  you have to be careful, that we don't actually --

         19  HIC's don't have to bring their trust to us to be

         20  inspected, so there would be nothing to stop you

         21  from putting a phony license number, which is why

         22  we've produced those bumper stickers. You can only

         23  get that bumper sticker when you, in fact, get

         24  licensed from us, and so that's one way for us to

         25  prove to consumers that it's a licensed contractor.
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          2                 If you had to put the license numbers

          3  on, how would we know it's a real number? The

          4  consumer wouldn't know unless we inspect every

          5  truck, which we do not do.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, I think it's

          7  something we ought to --

          8                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: We can take a

          9  look at it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: A lot of people

         11  see, I've had this experience myself, not in New

         12  York perhaps, but you know, you think about getting

         13  some work done, you see somebody working, oh,

         14  there's the phone number, there's, you know, let me

         15  call these people. Because I think what you were

         16  saying is accurate, people tend to work in the same

         17  areas, it's really a word of mouth situation, so you

         18  could find the contractors working within a small

         19  geographic area.

         20                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Well, you

         21  certainly put your finger on something important,

         22  which is the more consumers know that they can best

         23  be helped by us if they use a licensed contractor,

         24  the better pressure it brings to bear on the

         25  unlicensed guy. So, we are constantly out there
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          2  telling people use a licensed contractor, ask before

          3  you sign anything. We think we're successful, but

          4  that's always hard to measure. But anything that

          5  would help convey that message would be useful.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council Member

          7  Koppell has a question. I want to introduce my

          8  colleagues who have joined us. Joseph Addabbo, from

          9  Queens. James Sanders, Jr., also from Queens has

         10  also arrived.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council Member

         14  Koppell has a question, and then we want to move

         15  right to a vote on the two intros that we have out

         16  here.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you,

         18  Mr. Chair.

         19                 Thank you, Commissioner, for your

         20  good testimony, and I applaud you. The unlicensed

         21  contractors are a major problem. As you know, some

         22  years ago I was an Attorney General and it was an

         23  issue that we dealt with then.

         24                 There's one part of your testimony

         25  that disturbs me some, however, and that is the
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          2  statement that you make that you anticipate paying

          3  $41,000 in fines from the trust fund.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Right.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Now, I assume

          6  you're talking about fines to either contractors who

          7  do something wrong or unlicensed contractors; is

          8  that correct?

          9                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: No. Remember,

         10  the home improvement trust fund is only for licensed

         11  contractors.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay.

         13                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: The law, in

         14  fact, says that the trust fund should be used to pay

         15  both reimbursement to consumers, as well as

         16  outstanding fines to the City, and we think that

         17  it's right for us to do that, particularly since the

         18  trust fund is always replenished at the time of

         19  renewal and with our push to licensed new ones, we

         20  are always replenishing it.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But the fund

         22  is made up of payments from the contractors; is that

         23  correct?

         24                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: That's correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: See, I don't
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          2  have a problem with asking contractors to come up

          3  with money to reimburse injured consumers, because

          4  there's a benefit to the consumers from that, and if

          5  you want to weigh the merits, I would say it's okay

          6  the industry fund that. But if I were a contractor,

          7  I would deeply resent that my contribution is used

          8  to pay a fine for someone who violated the law.

          9  Because that's just a benefit I guess to the City,

         10  and it seems to me that that benefit to the City

         11  from fines should come from general revenue, not

         12  from the contributions of contractors.

         13                 Now, you can say, well, we have extra

         14  money or whatever, but I mean then you could reduce

         15  the licensing fees, if you have extra money.

         16                 I just find it -- I know, just to use

         17  an analogy, as a lawyer I pay $300 into a

         18  registration fund for lawyers, and I know there are

         19  many lawyers who resent having to pay $300 every two

         20  years to pay, and that money goes then to pay

         21  clients who have been defrauded by dishonest

         22  lawyers.

         23                 A lot of lawyers resent that. They

         24  say why do I have to pay $300 every two years to pay

         25  for the misdeeds of other people? But I think
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          2  there's a benefit because that provides then the

          3  funds for the injured consumer or injured clients.

          4                 But if you told me that that $300 I

          5  paid every two years now is going to pay for

          6  penalties against let's say unlicensed lawyers, I

          7  really would -- I mean, it's bad enough to pay the

          8  $300 a year for someone who is cheating his clients

          9  when I'm not, but then if you said I've got to pay

         10  some of that $300 to pay fines to those lawyers or

         11  penalties, I know I would resent it and I think the

         12  contractors should resent it.

         13                 So, even though you tell me it's in

         14  the law, I frankly think, Mr. Chairman, it ought to

         15  be taken out of the law. Fines should not be paid by

         16  honest people. Fines for dishonest people should not

         17  be paid by honest people.

         18                 That's my view, now you might have a

         19  different view.

         20                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: It's the law. I

         21  don't know the legal history. I don't know when the

         22  Council passed that law, but it is the law and the

         23  DCA is living up to the law.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Mr. Chairman,

         25  I would suggest the Committee take a look at it, and
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          2  I might myself put in an amendment, because I think

          3  something is wrong.

          4                 I don't know why it's only $41,000.

          5  That's all the fines that --

          6                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: No, we just

          7  began doing this three months ago.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I would

          9  say it's poor policy, Mr. Chairman. I would like to

         10  discuss it with you. I really think the contractors

         11  have a right to object.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, we are --

         13                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: I don't mean to

         14  make light of that, but it is interesting. It's like

         15  whenever something happens you say why me, I didn't

         16  do it.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council member, we

         18  will be happy to discuss that with you. We've

         19  reached out to the home improvement contracting

         20  universe. They have not come forward today. We will

         21  continue to reach out to them about this

         22  legislation. But if they had the objection similar

         23  to yours, I would think that they would come, or at

         24  least indicate to us that that's the problem, but

         25  I'm happy to have the attorneys for the committee
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          2  and myself sit down with you about your concerns.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I

          4  agree. I think the contractors should object. If

          5  they don't, I suppose why should we help them. But

          6  if they do object, I'm sympathetic.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, that's my

          8  point. We've asked them to testify about this bill

          9  they haven't stepped forward. But we'll be happy to

         10  talk with you about it. Thank you.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Chairman, can I

         12  also point out, because Pauline just reminded me,

         13  you know, they don't have to pay into the trust

         14  fund. They can get a bond instead if they want to.

         15  So the contractors have a choice, either to get a

         16  bond, or to pay into the trust fund. And let's not

         17  forget that the fines that are being paid out of

         18  that trust fund are fines that have been levied

         19  against licensed contractors, so it's the same as

         20  the Bar Association, there are still bad guys in the

         21  industry making the industry look bad, even though

         22  they're licensed.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. I want

         24  to take a moment from this testimony to move to a

         25  vote on our two -- I want to take a vote on the two
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          2  bills that we have in front of us today on towing.

          3  One is to change the rate for the arterial towers,

          4  and the second is licensing dates for the tow

          5  industry. We've had several hearings on, certainly

          6  on the arterial tow rates, and we've discussed with

          7  the Administration the licensing date. This has been

          8  made at the request of the Administration to make

          9  the Consumer Affairs, make it possible for them to

         10  do these inspections in a more timely fashion, not

         11  rush to the end of the year when so many other

         12  things have expired.

         13                 So, I think they're both good bills,

         14  and I'm glad that we've been able to come to an

         15  accord with the Administration, I certainly

         16  recommending strongly that we vote aye on both of

         17  these bills. And I'd like to have the clerk call the

         18  roll, please.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reed.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Aye.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Addabbo.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Koppell.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sanders.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Yes to both.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gentile.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Aye.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of five in

          6  the affirmative, zero in the negative, no

          7  abstentions, both intros are adopted. Council

          8  members, please sign the Committee reports.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. Are

         11  there other efforts that you feel, returning back to

         12  the issue of the home improvement contract, are

         13  there other areas that you feel that your agency and

         14  the administration could be taking to further

         15  protect home owners, and I imagine, of course, this

         16  also goes for people who rent apartments, or co-op

         17  owners, whatever home improvement, how ever you

         18  define your home, it is included in this, correct?

         19                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Now, does this

         21  include, for instance, the super in your building

         22  who decides to charge you money for work that may

         23  not be, quote, included in a lease.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: If it's over

         25  $200, yes. If the super is considered a home
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          2  improvement contractor he must be licensed. And as

          3  my testimony said, we have sent letters to the Rent

          4  Stabilization Association which represents many of

          5  the rental building owners, which we've contacted

          6  the Real Estate Board, we've had editorials in the

          7  Cooperator and Real Estate Weekly reminding building

          8  owners that they should in fact make it mandatory to

          9  use licensed contractors.

         10                 Remember that painting is excluded

         11  from the list, but otherwise think of it as all

         12  cabinetry, all of that kind of stuff is home

         13  improvement contracting.

         14                 But to answer to your question is

         15  there more we can do? I think that I am very

         16  confident of the strategy, and there's of course

         17  more we can always do, which is we can do more of

         18  the same. We'd like to build up more partnerships

         19  with the large big box stores like Home Depot and

         20  Loews, because they all have what are known as

         21  pro-desks where the home improvement contractors go

         22  and get their stuff.

         23                 We had one experiment at a Home Depot

         24  in Queens, and we were at the pro-desk for a week,

         25  and it wasn't as successful as we would have liked.
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          2  Those are big stores, you get lost in them, it's

          3  hard to get people's attention. So, we are

          4  constantly trying to refine the strategy, but I

          5  think the strategy of getting all the divisions to

          6  work together to continue to focus on it, to

          7  constantly push at the local press works, it's just

          8  a never-ending struggle.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Are there other

         10  questions from the Committee?

         11                 Yes, Council Member Gentile.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you,

         13  Mr. Chair.

         14                 Good morning, Commissioner.

         15                 Just a clarification. Did you say

         16  that by virtue of the fact that a contractor not

         17  having a license is sufficient enough under the law

         18  to seize their vehicle?

         19                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: That fact

         21  alone will allow you to seize the vehicle under law?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: I see. Okay,

         24  great.

         25                 The other question I had is, you
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          2  talked at the end of your testimony about the

          3  contractor getting a loan of $32,000; is that a

          4  mortgage?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: No. That story

          6  I'm telling you is that the contractor said to the

          7  woman, I'll get you the loan. Gee, that work in your

          8  basement, I think you need a loan of $32,000 to pay

          9  off your bills and to have me do the work in your

         10  basement. So, he arranged for the loan that she took

         11  out worth $32,000, then he disappeared. She was

         12  stuck paying back the loan and work that was never

         13  completed.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: So, she

         15  indicated she could never qualify for a loan.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: That's correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: How did that

         18  change when he comes into the picture?

         19                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Because he gets

         20  her a loan from somebody who doesn't care what her

         21  credit rating is, and that's a great example of

         22  predatory lending. That's why we feel that the

         23  Massachusetts' law is in fact the strongest one in

         24  the nation, and would make it absolutely a clear

         25  line, if you're a home improvement contractor you
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          2  cannot carry loan papers, you cannot sell a job

          3  based on you getting the loan for the consumer. It's

          4  real clear in Massachusetts, and interestingly

          5  enough, Barbara Anthony, who is the Regional

          6  Director of the Federal Trade Commission here in New

          7  York came from Massachusetts. She is the one that

          8  flagged this to our attention. She said this worked

          9  really well.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Sounds great.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Is this something

         13  that you've been looking at for legislation in

         14  Albany?

         15                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: No, we haven't.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You're making a

         17  point that it's a Massachusetts' law, it sounds to

         18  me like it's a state law.

         19                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Massachusetts

         20  it is a state law.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, while it would

         22  be useful for us to try to do this in New York, why

         23  wouldn't the Administration be looking to have this

         24  done in Albany?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Well, in fact,

                                                            38

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  we did try to get this done on the predatory lending

          3  bill the Council passed last year, and was not

          4  upheld as legal.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, I'm not sure

          6  we want to revisit that today, since we're being so

          7  harmonious, but, you know, the Council was very

          8  supportive of it, and it's fascinating to me that

          9  this advertising piece was a component of the

         10  predatory lending bill.

         11                 We didn't take the predatory lending

         12  to court. The Administration took us to court.

         13                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Not on this

         14  part of it.

         15                 But in any case, we at the local

         16  level licensed home improvement contractors. So, we

         17  at the local level could in fact put this into the

         18  local law that says you cannot carry -- to be a home

         19  improvement contractor doesn't give you the right to

         20  carry the paper.

         21                 Then in fact we have strengthened the

         22  home improvement contractor license law here at the

         23  local level. The state doesn't license them. We do.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, I think that

         25  the bill is a positive bill. We'll certainly try to
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          2  look at it some more, look forward to having it come

          3  for a vote fairly soon. And I want to thank you for

          4  your testimony.

          5                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Thank you for

          6  having us.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And, again, thank

          8  you for your patience. I apologize for the delay.

          9                 We don't see anyone else that's

         10  signed up to testify today. So, seeing no one else

         11  to testify, I want to thank those who have come, and

         12  meeting is adjourned.

         13                 (Hearing concluded at 11:30 a.m.)
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